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Map of St Kitts, 1753 courtesy of the British Library

Britain’s economy was transformed as a result of the
transatlantic slave trade. Trading and financial
institutions grew to meet the demands of plantation
owners and slave traders who required credit and
insurance. This wealth funded the building of rural
villas and great houses. The local area shared in this
prosperity.

In 1712 Carshalton Park was bought by William
Scawen, an immensely wealthy financier, who was
one of the early governors of the Bank of England.
Carshalton House (now St Philomena’s School) was
built for the Edward Carlton who traded in tobacco
grown on plantations in America and the Caribbean.
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Involvement was not limited to the newly rich. The
Carews of Beddington had been in the area since the
mid-fourteenth century. The ironworks they owned in
Virginia helped prop up their declining fortunes in the
eighteenth century.

These people employed locals as builders, gardeners
and servants. They paid rates and taxes. Local
industry also benefited from the trade with the colonies
and plantations. The mills in Carshalton and Wallington
that had once produced flour for the local market had by
1800 often moved into new areas of manufacturing
based on colonial goods. The tobacco which several mills
ground to snuff is the most obvious example.
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Carshalton Park Estate plan, 19 June 1893. Sutton Archives, acc. 466

Carshalton Park, Surrey, the seat of Taylor, Esq. by John Hassell,
1817. London Borough of Sutton Heritage Service

George Tayfor in Carshalton

George Taylor was born on the island of

St Christopher into a family whose wealth was

built on sugar plantations and the slave trade. The
precise date of his move to Carshalton is not known.
In 1782 he was paying tax on Carshalton Park with a
rental value of £50 and may have been living
elsewhere in the area. Before moving to Carshalton
he divided his time between England and the West
Indies, a practice not unusual in planter society. As a
young man he had studied at Oxford, attending
Brasenose College from 1754. After inheriting the
family plantations in St Christopher he is known to
have spent time in London. He may also have owned
or rented a property in Cheshire. When his youngest
brother, John Taylor, visited from Nevis in 1778 he is
said to have stayed with a brother [George] at
“Gayton Hall, near Parkgate, Chester”.

George Taylor purchased Carshalton Park for
£14.,000 from the trustees of James Scawen
(William’s great nephew). He built Carshalton Park
House and in 1785 was paying rates on the property.
The house was sufficiently grand for George Taylor
to enjoy the lifestyle of a wealthy retired gentleman.
He became Lord of the Manor, entertained his
friends and enjoyed the study of the classics. It was
fashionable for wealthy families to have black
servants in their households as status symbols and
he was no exception. His butler, Samuel Mudian,
had been a slave in the West Indies. George Taylor
extended his hospitality to villagers, allowing them to
walk in the park for example. A myth has been
passed down that local people believed the family’s

wealth would only last three generations because of
its involvement in the slave trade.
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Sugar Plantation in the French West Indies, ¢c1760 Mary Evans Picture Library

Eng[isﬁ settlement on St Cﬁrist(yoﬁer

The first English settlement was established on St
Christopher in 1623-24. French settlers followed
shortly after in 1625. The island is situated towards the
north of the Leeward chain along with Nevis,
Montserrat and Antigua. They offered a safer location
than islands further south which were more
susceptible to Spanish attacks. In order to protect
against these or from attacks by indigenous Caribs,
English and French settlers collaborated. They divided
the island between them: the ends of the island
became French quarters and the central area English.

In the early years of settlement tobacco was the
staple crop. Many of the inhabitants of the Leeward
Islands had limited financial resources and continued
to rely on white indentured servants for labour. Some
former servants on St Christopher established
themselves as small subsistence farmers, often with no
more than ten acres to cultivate. Leeward farmers
turned seriously to sugar in the 1660s. By the census
of 1678 there were 550 enslaved African men on St
Christopher, compared with 370 English and 187 Irish
men.
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Petition to the governor of St Kitts asking him to petition the king
about the favourable trading situation afforded to the French, 1664.
Signed by Nicholas and George Taylor and John Estridge

The National Archives, CO1/18

The Tay[or famify arrives on St Cﬁristqpﬁer

The origins of the Taylor family in St Christopher can be
traced back to Oliver Cromwell. Captain Nicholas
Taylor was appointed as one of Cromwell's
Commissioners who arrived on the island in 1654 to
collect debts from foreigners whose land had been
confiscated. He acquired land himself, almost
certainly Taylor’s Island. This was situated in one of the

English parishes, Christ Church Nicola Town. In 1654
Captain Nicholas Taylor signed a petition with other
landholders, appealing to the governor for similar free
trade arrangements to those enjoyed by the French. In
the same year a George Taylor and a Thomas Taylor
are present on St Christopher, but by the census of
1678 only Nicholas remains.
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“Taylor’s Island” on the Island of
St Christopher in 1753.

© The British Library Board. All
Rights Reserved (MAP82170.(7.)
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Deve[qpment gf the Tay[or fami[y
estates in St Cﬁristqpﬁer

The Taylor family built up its landholdings during the At that time a Joseph and John Taylor are recorded as
eighteenth century. Most of this land would pass to tenants-in-possession of Taylor’s Island. This is the
George Taylor of Carshalton or his immediate family at land situated on the windward (east) side of the island
some point. New land was acquired on the leeward acquired by Captain Nicholas Taylor in the early days
(west) side of the island when the final Anglo-French of the English settlement. John and Joseph were the
war of 1702—-13 returned all French territory to the sons of Elizabeth Estridge, who married into the Taylor
English. Bids for this land were invited from English family towards the end of the seventeenth century. The
settlers. An earlier George Taylor was granted 106 two families possessed land close to each other in the
acres and a Jonathan Taylor acquired 17 acres in the parishes of Christ Church Nicola Town and St John

parish of St George Basseterre. Capesterre.
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George Tay[or and St Cﬁristqpﬁer

George Taylor of Carshalton was the eldest of the five
children of Nicholas and Elizabeth Taylor. He had three
brothers. The eldest, William, became Rector of the
parish church of St Anthony on the island of
Montserrat. Little is known of Samuel James. John, the
youngest, followed George into the plantation
business. Their sister, Elizabeth, married Alexander
Douglas, also a planter in St Christopher. By the time
of Nicholas Taylor's death in 1751 the Taylor family
owned five plantations in St Christopher. Not long after
his death his widow, Elizabeth, married William Wells,
another plantation owner in St Christopher who was

thirteen years her junior. Taylor was initially thought to
have died intestate, but the discovery of two wills led to
a court case between family members. After a
series of court actions in both St Christopher
and England the Privy Council decided six S
years after his death in 1757 that Nicholas
Taylor had indeed died intestate. As eldest
son, George Taylor of Carshalton was heir to
Nicholas’s real estate. This was valued at
between £18,000 and £20,000 which in
today’s currency would be the equivalent
spending value of over £1,500,000.
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Windies Sugar Mill, 1816 Mary Evans Picture Library

George Tay[or and the slave trade

George Taylor was 23 at the time of the appeal and
was beginning to participate in plantation life. In 1759
he appointed attorneys in St Christopher to handle
some of his affairs, visiting to deal with important
aspects of his business. In 1764 there are two bills of
sale for enslaved Africans in his name and he was
probably in St Christopher overseeing these
transactions. Both were purchases from William Wells,
his mother’s second husband. The largest, detailing
the sale of 53 “negroe slaves, men, women, boys and
girls” for the sum £2,500, would equal more than

£186,975 in today’s currency. One name, Nevis-

Jemmy, suggests that these people may have spent
time on the island of Nevis. George Taylor mixed with

people who publicly supported the

transatlantic trade such as his brother-in-law,

Alexander Douglas. Giving evidence to the
parliamentary enquiry into the slave trade in
1790, Alexander Douglas stated that he

believed it would be impossible to maintain the ]

numbers necessary to cultivate the estates
without continuing the trade with Africa.
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Last page of John Taylor’s will, 10 May 1833.
The National Archives, PROB 11/1816 f279v

John Taylor and Nevis

John Taylor (George’s brother) also studied at Oxford, Stapleton and the Nisbet families. He had connections
attending Brasenose College in 1767. He married with the Pinney family, which held large plantations in
Eleanor Warren, with whom he had two daughters Ann Nevis. John Taylor and John Pinney acted as attorneys
and Mary. He lived for a number of years on the island for each other. In 1782—83 John Pinney paid the tax on
of Nevis, just two miles south of St Christopher, where John Taylor’s 188 enslaved people, acting as his

he owned a plantation called the Tower Hill Estate. attorney. John Taylor established himself on the island,
John Taylor played an active part in planter society forming strong friendships as well as business

from his early days on the island. He was elected to relationships. When he returned to England in 1799 he
the Council of Nevis in 1775. At times he also was described as “a Gentleman of great respectability”
managed other plantations, including the estates of the and his departure was “a great loss to the Island”.
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Samuel Mudian's monumental inscription
in All Saints, Carshalton churchyard

Y OF
SACRED TO THE MEMOR

sAMUEL MUDIAN, |

OF ST. KITT'S, WEST INDIES,
% B o DEPARTED THIS LIFE {
7 APRIL 28TH, 1841, L, | -
AGED 71 YEARS. |
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""18th centuryview of a black servant in
in Carsh

a garden from the Painted Room
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Wallington Land Tax, 1826,
showing Samuel Mudian
renting from James
Yarraway. Reproduced by
permission of Surrey
History Centre. Copyright of
Surrey History Centre
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George Taylor’s will, 1814 with his bequest to Samuel Mudian.
The National Archives, PROB 11/1559 f150.

The Tay[or famify and its inheritance

George Taylor died in 1814. The memorial at All Saints
in Carshalton commemorates George Taylor as a
hospitable, friendly and charitable man who enjoyed
“the love and fidelity of his numerous old domestics
and the grateful blessings of the poor”. He left the poor
of the parish £1,000 in his will and left legacies to other
servants, as well as Samuel Mudian. More importantly,
should Samuel Mudian choose to return to the West
Indies, George Taylor grants him his freedom there.
Samuel Mudian was the one person offered this so
perhaps he was the only black servant. The
individualism George Taylor afforded him contrasted
with the attitudes he expressed towards the enslaved
workers on his plantations. In his will he described “all
his negroes” in the same sentence as his “live and
dead stock”. To hold such contradictory views was not
unusual in contemporary planter society.

How much of the myth spread by local residents that
the Taylor's wealth would only last three generations
due to their involvement in the slave trade turned out to
be true? As George Taylor had no direct heirs the
estate passed to his younger brother, John Taylor, who

Special thanks to Sue Barnard our Gentlemen Slavers Project researcher, Kristine Pooley for
her research into the Mudian, Bluton and Huther families, Christine Eickelmann and David
Small for information on John Taylor and Ann Rainsbury for information on George Taylor.

lived there until his death on 1832. John Taylor’s will,
written in 1826, hints at the gradual decline in the
family’s wealth. John Taylor appeals to his wife Eleanor
in his will asking that she accept a yearly sum of £200,
rather than the £400 assigned under a previous
settlement. This is because the value of his West
Indian estates no longer equalled the loans he had
taken out on them.

He was succeeded by his nephew, another John, son
of Reverend William Taylor. This John Taylor’s term as
Lord of the Manor was short lived. By 1838 he had let
Carshalton Park House and moved out. He died
intestate in 1864, leaving a personal estate of £2,000
to his only son, Captain William Taylor. He was living at
Lake Villa in the County of Southampton at the time.
Carshalton Park House remained in the Taylor family
and in 1888 Captain William Taylor’s son John William
Frederick Blake Taylor moved back in. He was the final
Taylor to occupy the house. In 1892 a large part of the
Park went on sale and by 1920 the house itself had
disappeared.
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